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EXCAVATIONS AT DOVE FIRST SCHOOL, ROCESTER, 
STAFFORDSHIRE, IN 1985 

I. M. FERRIS 

with contributions by 
L. Barfield, B. Burrows, S. Butler, C. Cane, H. E. M. Cool, B. Dickinson, 

A. S. Esmonde Cleary, R. Ferguson, G. Grainger, D. Mackreth, J. G. McDonnell, 
J. Price, M. Reid, R. S. O. Tomlin, and G. Webster 

INTRODUCTION 

The village of Rocester in north-east Staffordshire (SK 111395) lies between the rivers Churnet 
and Dove, three miles to the north of Uttoxeter (Fig. 1). In 1985 the University of Birmingham, in 
collaboration with various other bodies, began a large-scale rescue and research excavation at the 
New Cemetery, Church Lane, which was completed in 1987 (Esmonde Cleary and Ferris 1996). 
During the lifetime of this project building work elsewhere in the village allowed further small-scale 
investigations to take place at Rocester Football Club and, most importantly, at Dove First School 
in Dove Lane (Figs. 1 and 2). Extensions to the school building, the provision of a new kitchen, 
and the digging of service trenches posed a possible threat to known archaeological deposits here 
and it was consequently decided that the needs of the archaeologists and the builders would best be 
met by limited trenching to evaluate the nature and depth of surviving deposits and subsequently 
by a watching brief during the building work. The excavation was carried out by a team of work­
ers from the Staffordshire County Council Community Programme Agency under the direction of 
James Symonds and later Les Watson. 

The results of the work at Dove First School are here reported in summary form only, as part of 
a broader exercise to publish details of all excavations to have taken place in Rocester between 1985 
and 2002. The full excavation and post-excavation record, along with the finds, is deposited at the 
Potteries Museum in Stoke-on-Trent. 

PREVIOUS WORK AT DOVE FIRST SCHOOL 

Stray finds, comprising a large quantity of broken tesserae and pottery, were reported by the anti­
quary Francis Redfem as having been dug up at the school in the 1850s (Redfern 1865, 356), while 
archaeological investigations of a sort, in that 'a trench was made across the playground', took place 
in 1913 under the supervision of a Mr Cartwright (Barns 1914, 4). This latter work was not pub­
lished and no records are traceable, although one or two potsherds from the school site are in the 
collection of the Potteries Museum, Stoke-on-Trent, along with a fine Roman copper alloy mount 
in the form of a lion's head (Ferris 1990). 

THE EXCAVATED SEQUENCE by I. M. Ferris 

THE 1985 EXCAVATION 
A trench, aligned roughly east-west and measuring 16.6m. by 2.5m., was laid out to the north 

of the old school kitchens (Fig. 2), initial deturfing in selected lm. squares having identified the 
presence, at the east end of the trench, of the expected late Roman clay rampart previously encoun­
tered during excavations in the New Cemetery. Deposits were then excavated by hand down to the 
natural at a depth of approximately 1.6 metres below the present day ground surface. The sequence 
was recorded both in plan and in section (Fig. 3) and has been subsequently divided into thirteen 
phases. Individual layers or contexts were numbered in continuous sequence from 1000, features 
from F500; the numbering system is consistent in the site records, the archive, and in this report. 

Phase 1 (Fig. 4) 
The natural subsoil of the site was a mixture of orange, ginger and pale yellow sands, and grav­

els (1113, 1252), forming part of the flood plain of the River Dove, only some 50-60m. away to 
the east. It is likely that an artificial terrace had been cut into the gravels, for it is otherwise difficult 
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2 EXCAVATIONS AT DOVE FIRST SCHOOL, ROCESTER, STAFFORDSHIRE, IN 1985 

Fig. 1 Location map 

to account for the difference in levels between the eastern end of the trench and the central and 
western parts. This had either led to, or been accompanied by, the removal of turf over the whole 
area; in the east archaeological deposits overlay the natural gravel, while in the west infilling in the 
hollow left by the cutting of the terrace was directly over exposed gravels. 

Although the natural gravel was in places penetrated by the bases of features cut from a higher 
level, there were no hollows or disturbances cut directly into the natural that would suggest the one-
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EXCAVATIONS AT DOVE FIRST SCHOOL, ROCESTER, STAFFORDSHIRE, IN 1985 35 

It was possible to compare the contexts uncovered in the 1998 evaluation with the deposits which 
were described in the excavation which took place in 1985/6. Here were defined thirteen phases of 
activity: Phases 1-4 represented Roman military activity, Phases 5-7 subsequent Roman civilian 
activity, Phases 8-9 Saxon and medieval activity, Phases 10-11 early post-medieval activity, and 
Phases 12-13 19th- and 20th-century usage of the area, most recently, before the building and exten­
sion of the school, as allotments. In the 1998 evaluation trench the very dark grey-brown loamy 
clay soil, context 1003, can be likened to the texture and composition of the allotment soil which 
overlay and sealed the top of the archaeological sequence along the entire length of the earlier trench. 
The contexts similarly contained pottery dating from Roman through to medieval and post-medieval 
periods. The probably intrusive finds within context 1003 of the 1998 evaluation may be attributable 
to the deep allotment digging of Phase 13 which was noted in the 1985 records. 

The composition of the undisturbed deposit 1004 and the datable finds from here can be com­
pared with Phase 9 of the 1985/6 excavation. A road or track surface which showed considerable 
signs of damage (F528) was observed in 1985/6, with small pieces of sandstone and occasional cob­
bles forming its make-up and being incorporated in the surrounding, contemporary horizons. Similar 
inclusions were seen in context 1004 of the 1998 evaluation, which also contained medieval green-
glazed potsherds. 

A subsequent watching brief at the school during building work encountered no disturbance of 
archaeological deposits. 
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SAXON BURH AND ROYAL CASTLE: RE-THINKING EARLY 
URBAN SPACE IN STAFFORD 

RICHARD CUTTLER, JOHN HUNT, and STEPHANIE RATKAI 

with contributions by Robert Bracken, David Brown, Kevin Colls, Emma Hancox, Rachael Ives, 
Erica Macey-Bracken, Wendy Smith, and Anthony Swiss 

SUMMARY 

The establishment of a Saxon burh at Stafford in AD 913 by JEthelflaed, co-ruler of Mercia, is well 
documented, but clear archaeological evidence for the alignment of the burh has so far been scant. 
An open area excavation in 2003 at Broadeye, Stafford, provided the opportunity to review the evi­
dence for both the burh, and the possible medieval royal castle at Broadeye. The archaeological 
works were undertaken by Birmingham Archaeology in advance of the construction of a new gym­
nasium by Stafford College. The excavation was in response to an evaluation, which had unex­
pectedly revealed a late Saxon ditch large enough to have been a defensive feature. It was initially 
considered that the ditch may have formed part of the north-western extent of the former Saxon 
burh, but subsequent research suggests that it may define a pre-Conquest enclosure adjacent to the 
burh. This may also be the first archaeological evidence for the site of the royal castle which was 
built in the immediate post-Conquest period. 

The ditch was recut several times, and by the early 14th century was deliberately infilled in a 
single event. This may well be due to urban encroachment at a time when the castle was being used 
as a gaol. Most of the later activity was associated with buildings fronting onto Cherry Street, for­
merly aligned north—south across the site. 

INTRODUCTION 
Proposals by Stafford College for a new gymnasium prompted a desk-based assessment (Krawiec 
2003) and archaeological evaluation. The evaluation exposed a large ditch and pits of medieval date, 
which prompted an open-area excavation within the footprint of the proposed building. 

Located within the urban centre of Stafford, the site (OS Nat. Grid SJ 919 233; Figs. 1 and 2) 
is bounded to the north by Broad Street and to the east, west, and south by Stafford College build­
ings (Plates 1 and 2). The site lies close to what was previously thought to be the north-eastern 
extent of the former burh (the Anglo-Saxon word for a fortified town or defended site) and to the 
south of the medieval defences. This is within an area of Stafford known as Broadeye, where there 
is a bridge over the river Sow to the west, and a street called Castle Hill, believed to be the possi­
ble site of a medieval royal castle. A second, baronial castle, which is still extant and is known as 
Stafford Castle, was built in the late 11th century in Castle Church parish, about 1.2 miles south­
west of the town. To avoid confusion between the two sites, any reference to 'Stafford Castle' in 
this paper refers to the present castle in Castle Church parish, while references to the castle at 
Broadeye refer to the possible former royal castle in Stafford itself. 

THE SAXON BURH 

Stafford was founded on a south-facing peninsula defined by the river Sow on the west and south, 
and the Pearl brook (which now runs under a ring road) on the east. The central promontory of 
raised sands and gravel would have been a sharp contrast to the wet, frequently flooded, surround­
ing marshlands (Carver 1979,1981). The defensive position and the agricultural potential of promon­
tory must have been one of the deciding factors in the location of the settlement. The Anglo-Saxon 
Chronicle records that Stafford was founded as a burh by iEthelflaed (the daughter of King Alfred 
of Wessex, 849-899), who with her husband, Ealdorman ^Ethelred, as rulers of Mercia, were engaged 
in fortifying 'Bricg' (?Bridgnorth), Tamworth, Stafford, and Warwick against Danish incursions. At 
Tamworth the burh was established in AD 913, and took the form of a turf bank and ditch with a 
palisade (Gould 1968 and 1969). The burh at Stafford was built in the same year, and it seems rea­
sonable to assume that the design of the defenses would have been similar. Although the line of the 
Stafford burh has never been confirmed by archaeological evidence, Martin Carver proposed that 
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Fig. 1 Site location 
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Fig. 7 Sections across the Anglo-Saxon and medieval ditches (1 and 2) 
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site. As they were both truncated by later features their profiles and dimensions could not be deter­
mined. The westernmost ditch (F135) was V-shaped in profile, while F136 was likely to have been 
wide with a flat-base. The silty sand primary fills of F136 (1050, 1108) and F135 (1052) produced 
sherds of Stafford ware and no other pottery fabrics. In addition, two fragments of slag from F136 
have the appearance of hearth bottoms. The later fills of darker sand (1041) also produced Stafford 
ware, in addition to bone fragments and part of a human skull. It is possible that these ditches were 
part of a single feature. 

The eastern edge of F136 was cut by a ditch (F125) with a U-shaped profile which must have 
measured over 3m in width and 1.8m in depth. The fills comprised generally sterile sand, and are 
likely to be the result of slumping from the sides. The only pottery from the ditch fills were two 
sheds of Stafford ware (1047 and 1085), and there seems little doubt that these ditches and their 
fills pre-date the Conquest. 

Ditch F125 was in turn truncated on its eastern side by a V-shaped ditch (Fl 16) with a fairly com­
plete profile, measuring c. 3.5m in width by 3m in depth. In general the sequences of fills comprised 
fairly sterile, mid-brown to red silty sand. The pottery from the primary fills was dominated by Stafford 
ware vessels, mostly comprising jars (1005 and 1045), with nothing to suggest a post-Conquest date 
for these deposits. In contrast, the upper fills (1003 and 1087) produced a variety of wares including, 
Stafford, Stamford, and Deritend. While some of the assemblage from the upper fills suggests that 
the ditch was open until the 12th century, it is possible that some sherds are intrusive from F126. 

Phase 2: late 11th to late 13th centuries 
Early in the medieval period a new ditch (F126) was cut to the north-west of F116 on the same 
alignment as the late Saxon ditches. Ditch F126 was probably c. 8m wide and 2m deep with pri­
mary fills of brown sand (1027, 1067 and 1091). These produced a pottery assemblage, with a high 
quantity of jugs and pitchers, indicative of a high status group. The assemblage suggests that the 
primary fills were probably deposited during the 12th century, and certainly no later than the mid­
dle of the 13th century. 

The upper fills of ditch F126 comprised mid-to-dark brown silty sand fills (1000, 1019, 1021, 
and 1093) which produced a pottery assemblage firmly dated to the late 13th and very early 14th 
centuries. The assemblage is a typical low-to-moderate status urban assemblage, with a low sherd 
weight, possibly resulting from deliberate backfilling and redeposition. This may be indicative of 
clearance and levelling at the beginning of the 14th century. 

Phase 3: early 14th to 15th centuries 
Ditch F126 was cut by two circular pits (F142 and F144; Fig. 7 Section 2). Pit F144 was U-shaped 
in profile and measured approximately 1.7m deep by 2m wide. The fills (1079 and 1081) produced 
a good assemblage of pottery, with sherd sizes which suggested near primary deposition. While the 
assemblage was dominated by jugs, the presence of cooking pots in Deritend ware and fabric iru02b 
(see Ratkai below) suggests the fill post-dates the mid 13th century and is unlikely to be later than 
c. 1325. This provides a terminus ante quern for the possible levelling and deliberate backfilling of 
ditch F126. Pit F142 was V-shaped in profile and measured approximately 0.8m deep by 1.2m wide. 
The sandy fills produced 17 sherds of pottery consistent with an early 14th-century date. 

A series of pits (F145 to F148) cut the eastern edge of ditch F126, the earliest of which (F147) 
was oval with a flat base and was filled by mid-brown silt sand (1097). This was cut by another pit 
(F145), also with a flat base and containing a substantial amount of animal bone and early 14th-
century pottery (1095). Two small circular pits (F146 and F148), both U-shaped in profile, trun­
cated pit F145. 

Two parallel ditches (F123 and F130), aligned north-east—south-west, were recorded to the south­
west of ditch (F126). These measured approximately 0.8m wide by 0.3m deep and were filled with 
mid brown silt sand (1040 and 1058) containing pottery and animal bone. 

A large pit (F102, Fig. 6) was partially exposed in the north-eastern corner of the site, though 
sufficient was revealed to indicate a rectilinear shape. The pit measured more than 5.5m across and 
approximately 1.5m in depth with a U-shaped profile. The pottery recovered from the primary fill 
(1007) was generally similar in form and composition to F144 and F145, while the upper fill (1042) 
consisted mostly of ash, charcoal, and slag. 

To the south of pit F102, within the evaluation Trench (1), was a small circular pit or posthole 
(F402) which measured 0.4m in diameter by 0.2m in depth. The fill was dark sandy silt (1110) with 
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charcoal and fragments of burnt clay. A circular pit (F108) to the west of pit F102 measured 1.2m 
in diameter by 0.4m in depth. This was filled by dark brown sandy silt (1013) which produced pot­
tery and animal bone. 

At the northern edge of the site the base of a sandstone wall (F212) had been bedded directly 
into the upper fill (1019) of ditch F126, on a north—south alignment. There was no evidence of 
mortaring between the squared sandstone blocks. To the east, ditch F116 was cut by a narrow, V-
shaped gully (F202) aligned east—west. This was filled by a mid-brown to grey sandy silt (2002) 
which produced medieval tile fragments and burnt bone. 

Phase 4: 17th to 18th centuries (post-medieval) 
To the east of ditch F116 was a shallow, oval pit (F132), which measured lm in width and 0.25m 
in depth. The pit contained a substantial concentration of broken brick and tile (1061) which had 
been partially sealed by mid brown silty sand (1060). On either side of pit Fl 16 were two smaller 
pits (F133 and F134) measuring up to 0.7m in width by 0.3m in depth. Both contained mid-brown 
silty sand fills (1062 and 1063) and both produced sherds of 16th-century pottery. The pits had been 
sealed by a spread of black, burnt-looking material (1077) which contained clinker and ash. 

In the north-eastern corner of the site were three inter-cutting pits (F110, F i l l , and F112), 
which were circular in plan and generally irregular in profile. A fourth pit (F109) in this area trun­
cated a medieval pit (F108). All the pits contained fragments of brick, animal bone, and 18th-century 
pottery. 

Two ditches (F114 and F122) were aligned north-west—south-east, both with a U-shaped pro­
file. The deepest (F114) measured 1.5m in width by 1.3m in depth and produced 17th- and 18th-
century pottery, well-preserved animal bone, and clay pipe (1022). 

In the south-western corner of the excavation area was the burial of an adult horse (F124). The 
feature had been truncated by later disturbance which had removed the skull, and the remaining 
bones were in a poor condition. While no dating evidence was recovered from the fill of the burial, 
a radio-carbon date of 1754 x 1824 cal AD (SUERC-4050, GU-12226) was obtained from the bone. 

At the north-eastern extent of the excavation area two U-shaped pits were recorded, one (F208) 
measured 0.8m across and 0.6m in depth, while a slightly larger pit (F205), recorded during the 
evaluation (Trench 2) produced later 17th- to mid 18th-century pottery. 

Phase 5: 19th century 
The late Saxon and medieval ditches were truncated by two cellars (F150 and F151) measuring 
approximately 4m in length by 1.2m in depth. The cellars were both constructed from brick and 
were backfilled with rubble. The floor of F151 sealed the earlier 16th-century brick and tile filled 
pit (F132). 

THE FINDS 

THE POTTERY by Stephanie Rdtkai 

All the late Saxon and medieval pottery was examined under x20 magnification and divided into 
fabric groups. The fabric codes are compatible with Ford's (1995) broad groupings of fabrics so 
that fabrics prefixed 'iru' are the equivalent of Ford irsu-w, 'ir' the equivalent of Ford irsw-t, ' ip ' , 
'ipfe' and 'ww' the equivalent of Ford Midlands white ware. Other known types of pottery (eg 
Stafford ware, Stamford ware) are given their full name in the text. The type series was also com­
pared with the Stafford Castle (Castle Church site) type series (Ratkai 2007) and a concordance is 
given in Table 1, with the lists of the main form and decorative features associated with each fab­
ric listed in Table 2. 

The late Saxon and medieval pottery were quantified by sherd count and weight, rim count, and 
rim percentage (eves). Details of sherd type (rim, handle, base), vessel form, decoration, glazing, 
sooting, wear, limescale,and secondary use were recorded. The post-medieval pottery was recorded 
by ware type and quantified by sherd count, weight, and rim, base, and handle count. 

Most of the medieval pottery fabrics could be matched to those found during recent excavations 
at Stafford Castle (Castle Church site). Even allowing for the detailed fabric typology and the 
extremely large assemblage from Stafford Castle, it is apparent that a much wider variety of pottery 
was in use there than in the town at Broadeye. 
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Plate 6 Reconstructed skull from fragments recovered from F136 

Plate 7 Extraneous bone growth on cattle metatarsal from F1093 

sexually dimorphic supra-orbital ridge (glabella) and supra-orbital margin indicate that it is likely 
to be from a probable male individual, although this remains tentative given that the remainder of 
the skeleton has not survived. There was no evidence of a retained metopic suture (non-metric trait) 
and no pathological changes to the orbits or frontal bone were identified. 

THE ANIMAL BONE by David Brown and Emma Hancox 

A small assemblage consisting of 1183 fragments were recovered from 59 contexts from Phases 1 
to 4 (Table 4). Preservation of the remains from the site was mixed but was generally noted as 
'fair/poor'. 

The assemblage was dominated by cattle and sheep/goat with much fewer recorded incidences 
of pig, dog [Canis familiaris], deer (suspected red deer [Cervus elaphus] but inconclusive), horse, 
cat (cat burial 1028), and chicken [Gallus gallus]. No fish were noted. A quantity of foetal/neonatal 
specimens were identified in the assemblage (context 1000). 41 bones were recorded as measurable, 
17 bones were recorded as ageable based upon epiphyseal data (following Schmid 1972), and 8 
mandibles were recorded as ageable. There were 9 recorded incidences of dog gnawing, 1 of rat 
(1000), 51 burnt specimens, and 26 butchered specimens. Pathology, in the form of extraneous bone 
growth on two cattle metapodials (from 1000 and 1093), was recorded (Plate 7). 
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Plate 8 Fragment of worked bone from ditch F126 

The assemblage probably represents mostly domestic refuse as suggested by butchery marks and 
the presence of burnt and calcified bone. Most species are also indicative of a domestic assemblage, 
as is the fact that a wide range of elements was noted. The presence of horncores, an antler, and a 
worked bone handle (unstratified) probably indicates the working of hom and bone in the vicinity. 

Horse burial 
Equid bones were identified in four contexts (1000, 1011, 1015, and 1043). Feature F124 (1043) 
produced a partial skeleton of an adult equid. The articulated vertebrae and ribs survived along with 
a femur, a humerus, an ulna, and an articulated rear foot. The feature had been truncated by later 
disturbance and most of the bones were in very poor condition. Unfortunately only four countable 
elements survived - an ulna, an astragalus and two tarsals. The only measurable bone was the astra­
galus, with the results suggesting this animal was of a mid-range size. 

The worked bone 
Four fragments of worked bone were recovered including a button and a bone plaque, both from 
the upper fill of ditch F126: Plate 8). The bone plaque is decorated with ring and dot motifs and 
very similar fragment was found at Stafford Castle (Castle Church site), together with a second piece 
with drilled holes for attachment (Wilkinson 2007, 146-8). They are described as 'casket strips' and 
are probably of 13th-century date. The plaque is unlikely to be part of a knife handle, since scale-
tang knives appear from the mid 14th century onwards (pers comm Quita Mould) and the pottery 
from the fill of F126 suggests an earlier date for this deposit. 

DISCUSSION 

The assemblage from each phase was highly variable in terms of quantity. Phase 1 produced 75 
specimens; Phase 2, 1105 specimens; and Phase 3, only three undiagnostic and badly degraded frag­
ments of bone; and so there is an obvious discrepancy in the quantities from each phase. This may 
be the result of an increase in activity on the site by Phase 2. 

Phases 1 and 2 
The taxa in both phases (Table 5) is similar to the extent that cattle and sheep/goat are predominant 
with pig, domestic fowl, and horse to a much lesser extent. Dog is present exclusively in Phase 1 
and deer in Phase 2. The elements that were represented overall reflected primary butchery activ­
ity. There was a preponderance of lower limb bones such as metapodials and autopodials, dense 
bones such as carpals and tarsals and skull elements such as mandibles and cranial fragments: 
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17th century (Ramsey et al., 2004). A similar accumulation of soil in the medieval period was 
observed above the metalled surface at Gaolgate Street (Dodd et al., 2004). Work at the Sheridan 
Centre development witnessed probable industrial pits of 11th to 14th-century date on part of the 
site (Foundations Archaeology 2003), while in Broad Street, at the Shopmobility development sit­
uated within the historic core of Stafford and fronting onto a known medieval street, medieval activ­
ity seems not to commence before the 14th century (Dodd et al. 2000). 

Thus, by the 14th century, whatever the original purpose of ditch F126, it had outlived its use. 
Subsequent pitting produced typically domestic assemblages of animal bone and pottery, with some 
charcoal and slag, suggesting low level industrial activity. A sandstone wall (F212) at the northern 
end of the site, bedded directly into the upper fill of F126 on a north—south alignment may date 
to this period. This sequence represents an encroachment upon the presumed castle site which reflects 
the declining importance of the ditch as both a barrier and a boundary. This was part of a gradual 
process of disuse which also led to the town's gatehouses being used as gaols, and then the build­
ing of a new prison on a new site in the late 14th century. 

The mechanics of why Stafford developed in preference to other places in the region, eventually 
becoming the head of a shire remains unclear, although as a key to urbanization, commerce is likely 
to have been a driving force behind this. Whilst there is no doubt that Stafford was an expanding 
settlement, the archaeology would seem to suggest that there was some degree of 'ebb and flow' in 
this development. Intensification of activity in the 12th century might easily be followed in some 
areas by apparent abandonment or change of use in the following centuries, while in other areas the 
later 13th and 14th centuries seem to have been periods of greater activity. What has been observed 
at the Broadeye site is consistent with this picture of 'ebb and flow', as it is not inherently improb­
able that the arrangements being made by the later 14th century were intended to accommodate 
expansion of domestic land use in the environs of the royal castle site. 
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EXCAVATIONS ON THE SITE OF THE INFIRMARY OF BURTON 
ABBEY, NOW THE ABBEY INN, BURTON-UPON-TRENT, 2006 

C. HEALEY, with C. HOWARD-DAVIS and A. BATES 

SUMMARY 

In September 2006, as part of a Flood Alleviation Scheme undertaken by the Environment Agency, 
Oxford Archaeology North was commissioned to undertake a programme of archaeological analy­
sis on the site of Burton Abbey, Burton-upon-Trent (SK 25081 22642), comprising desk-based assess­
ment, small-scale excavation, and a subsequent watching brief. The project established that 
significant features relating to the infirmary of the medieval abbey survived in good condition, 
although deep below the present ground surface. Large amounts of post-Dissolution demolition 
debris, as well as later dumping and landscaping dating from the late 18th and early 20th centuries, 
sealed the medieval and early post-medieval features. 
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INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

In September 2006, Oxford Archaeology North undertook a programme of archaeological inves­
tigation on the site of the Scheduled Monument of Burton Abbey (SM922436), at Burton-upon-
Trent, Staffordshire (fig. 1), in advance of flood alleviation works along the banks of the river Trent 
conducted by the Environment Agency. As the construction of a new flood bank within the grounds 
of the Abbey Inn public house, on the western side of the river (SK 25081 22642; fig. 2), required 
the use of heavy earthmoving machinery and was likely to disturb or destroy below-ground archae­
ological remains within the Scheduled Monument, a programme of works was designed to mitigate 
damage to the archaeological resource and preserve by record any archaeological remains affected 
by the Flood Alleviation Scheme. It comprised a desk-based assessment, archaeological excavation 
within an area measuring 16 x 3m, and a programme of systematic archaeological observation dur­
ing subsequent topsoil stripping. 

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND 

There has been a monastic establishment at Burton-upon-Trent since approximately the 7th cen­
tury AD, possibly one of several established in Mercia by Bishop Wilfrid (Tringham 2003, 6). It is 
thought to have been on Andresey, or Andrew's Isle, one of several islands in the river Trent, towards 
the southern end of the present town (ibid.). The site was subsequently associated with the semi-
mythical Irish saint, Modwen, who is said to have been buried there in the 7th century (Hannam 
and Greenslade 1970, 199). Little is known of the Anglo-Saxon monastic settlement, and it seems 
quite likely that it was destroyed, or at least very drastically reduced, by Viking incursions and occu­
pation in the 9th century, Burton not being incorporated into the growing English Kingdom until 
c 942 (Tringham 2003, 6). 

Wulfric Spot, a Mercian nobleman holding Burton in the late 10th century (Hannam and 
Greenslade 1970, 199), founded the Benedictine abbey on the west bank of the river Trent, close 
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Fig. 1 Location map 

to the focus of settlement (Tringham 2003, 6). There is slight uncertainty as to the precise founda­
tion date (Dyer 2002, 5), but it is believed to be in the late 990s, as Wulfric endowed the already 
existing monastery in his will which is dated between 1002 and 1004 (Tringham 2003, 7). Similarly, 
it is not clear whether it was a relocation or refoundation of an existing establishment, possibly a 
minster (ibid.), which is likely to have already observed a broadly Benedictine rule (Burton 1994, 
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1), or was a new foundation, following in the wake of the late lOth-century monastic revival. It was, 
however, the most northerly Anglo-Saxon house to be founded (ibid. 5), although not a particularly 
large house, never exceeding the maximum of 31 monks that were recorded in 1295 (Hannam and 
Greenslade 1970, 199). It seems likely that Wulfric, as a man of considerable wealth and influence, 
intended it to serve as a family mausoleum, and by c 1010, both he and his wife were buried in the 
cloister, at the doors of the upper and lower church respectively (ibid.). 

Although the abbey is said to have been generously endowed by Wulfric, it is uncertain whether 
the house ever received all that it was willed (ibid. 201), and its subsequent fortunes fluctuated dras­
tically. Its responsibility for upkeep of the road and bridge over the Trent undoubtedly contributed 
to its financial problems. Nevertheless, a new shrine was constructed following the discovery of the 
bones of St Modwen in 1201 (Tringham 2003, 108), reviving a cult first promoted during the abbacy 
of Geoffrey (1114-50), who wrote the Life and Miracles of St Modwenna (Bartlett 2002). Although 
it can be expected that the cult would bring in considerable revenue for both abbey and town, the 
provision of hospitality to travellers would have also caused a financial problem for the abbey. 
Moreover, it was host to royal households on several occasions, an experience which could be crip-
plingly expensive (Woolgar 1999, 9), and at other times the monks pleaded insufficient funds to 
accommodate even ordinary pilgrims. 

Its financial problems continued into the late 13th century. The abbey ranked second in a list of 
suppliers of English wool to Florence (Tringham 2003, 8), and yet, despite this, in 1310 it described 
itself as 'the smallest and the poorest Benedictine abbey in England' (Hannam and Greenslade 1970, 
200). In time, and in spite of periods of poor management, its financial problems were eventually 
overcome and ultimately the abbey accrued considerable wealth, becoming, by 1535, the richest in 
the county, with double the gross revenue of its nearest local rival (ibid.). 

At its foundation, the monastery seems to have been dedicated to St Benedict and All Saints, 
who are mentioned in royal charters of 1008 and 1012. It did not, however, lose its connection with 
St Modwen (Hannam and Greenslade 1970,212), and after the Norman Conquest William I is known 
to have visited the shrine (ibid. 200). By 1086, however, it had become the abbey of St Mary (ibid. 
201), and during the late 12th century it acquired a dual dedication to St Mary and St Modwen, 
which continued, with minor exceptions, until the abbey ceased to function (ibid.), and is repeated 
today in the dedication of the parish church. The abbey precinct seems to have been bounded, 
broadly, by High Street and Lichfield Street to the west, and the western branch of the river Trent 
(known as the Fleet) to the east. The church lay in the northern part of the precinct, its site now 
marked by the 18th-century church of St Modwen, and, as was normal practice, the principal claus-
tral buildings lay to the immediate south of the church (Burton 1994, 140). There is, however, con­
siderable variety in the layout of Benedictine houses (ibid. 146), and apart from the location of the 
church and cloister, the precise arrangements at Burton remain unknown. The precinct is known to 
have been walled by the 14th century (Tringham 2003, 48), but could, originally, have been defined 
by a substantial ditch, perhaps that excavated in 1975 (O'Brien 1979, 17; fig. 2). A chapel dedi­
cated to St Modwen was also maintained throughout the life of the abbey, on the island of Andresey. 

The Dissolution saw the granting of the abbey and its possessions to the Crown in 1539. Soon 
after, in 1541, Henry VIII replaced the abbey with the collegiate church of Christ and St Mary, the 
college members, including the abbot and several of the former monks, occupying the claustral 
range. The new arrangement did not last, however, and in 1545 it was wound up, with pensions 
apportioned and apparent severance payments made (Hannam 1970, 297-8). Sir William Paget, one 
of the king's principal secretaries, acquired the college estate in 1546 (Tringham 2003,46), although 
the nave of the church, for some considerable time used as the parish church by the Burton laity, 
did not form part of the grant. Sir William clearly intended to refurbish the claustral buildings as a 
grand residence, and plans were drawn up to that intent in c 1560, with the cloister forming an inter­
nal courtyard (ibid. 50). His death in 1563, however, shortly after retiring from public life, marked 
the end of such plans (ibid.). 

For a while, William's immediate descendants continued to make use of the claustral range as 
lodgings, although it seems unlikely that much maintenance was undertaken. The Paget family's 
recusancy led to their involvement in both the Throckmorton and the Babington plots, and when 
Thomas, Lord Paget, fled the country in 1583, the Burton estate was forfeited to the Crown (Tringham 
2003, 10, 46). By 1585, an intention to imprison Mary, Queen of Scots, in the former abbey was 
abandoned, as the buildings were considered to be in too poor a state to accommodate her securely 
(ibid. 10, 50). In 1597, the Burton estate was restored to William Paget, Thomas's son, but apart 
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2003, 50). It is also quite possible that some of the demolition material dates to the Civil War, dur­
ing which an army led by Queen Henrietta Maria razed the town in 1643 (ibid. 8). It is possible 
that subsequent looting by Parliamentarian forces was a similarly destructive factor in the degrada­
tion of the abbey buildings. 

For the most part, Phase 3 reflected extensive landscaping, as well as some water management, 
and perhaps a single stone-robbing trench. These may all be attributed tentatively to the energies of 
Henry Haynes, who refurbished and rebuilt various parts of the Abbey in the earlier 18th century 
(ibid. 51). Two 1795 engravings show the Abbey Inn site much as it is today (WSL, SV, 174b, 
199a), providing a terminus ante quern for this large-scale landscaping. 

According to Rye (1896, 255), the great hall building was supposed to have been aligned 
east-west, and whilst no conclusions regarding the dimensions or the overall layout of the building 
can be drawn from these excavation results alone, comparison with those from O'Brien's 1975 exca­
vation seem, in contrast, to indicate a building that was aligned north-south. This perhaps tallies 
somewhat better with Holler's engraving of 1661 (WSL, SV, 174b, plate facing p. 212 in Hannam 
and Greenslade 1970), which appears to have been drawn from the east of the former claustral range. 
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WREN, PEARCE, AND ST MARY'S: INGESTRE PARISH CHURCH 
AND ITS ROOFS 

BOB MEESON 

This paper was prompted by a survey of the roofs over the nave, aisles and chancel of St Mary's 
church at Ingestre (Staffordshire) before and during a restoration programme. The survey re-opened 
the questions of who designed and built the church, and of how the craftsmen involved could be 
secured to work on the building at a time when the Fire of London had created a high demand for 
their skills in the capital. Commissioned by Walter Chetwynd, St Mary's was built between 1672 
and 1676. A discussion of the circumstantial evidence that Sir Christopher Wren may have been the 
architect, along with the possibility that Edward Pearce might have been available to control the 
work on site, reflects some of the complexities of the mid 17th-century building industry. The roof 
carpentry and metal fixings are described, and the possible layout of the original pews is discussed. 

Ingestre Church is approximately five kilometres (three miles) east of Stafford at NGR SJ976246. 
The numerous country estates that clustered nearby, at the heart of Staffordshire's central lowland, 
might have been more than incidental to the design of a church in the new classical style at Ingestre 
in the 17th century, as they provided a pool of nobility and gentry to impress. The church was built 
adjacent to the client's own Ingestre Hall, whilst Tixall Hall (home of the Astons) was less than 
two kilometres (one and a quarter miles) to the south, Colwich Hall (for the Wolseleys) was close 
by to the south-east, Weston Hall (the Staffords), Sandon Park (Gerards), and Chartley (Ferrers) lie 
further away to the north and east. The nearby Shugborough estate was in the hands of the (then 
nouveaux riches) Ansons. 

Unlike most of Christopher Wren's City churches, Ingestre parish church has largely escaped the 
deprivations of demolition, structural adaptation at the hands of later architects, and war damage. 
Arguably, St Mary's exceeds the quality of Wren's early commission at Pembroke College, 
Cambridge, and is the equal of one of his best works there - Emmanuel College Chapel. What the 
Ingestre plaster ceilings lack in refinement they gain in unrestrained exuberance, especially in the 
nave (Fig. 1). The Cambridge chapels were fitted out to suit college life, but they have been sub­
ject to alterations, and many of the remaining churches in London have also long lost their original 
fittings. The nave at Ingestre, however, is 'a room of blissful harmony' (Pevsner 1974, 155), one 
of the few places left where Restoration architecture, furnishings, and plasterwork can all be seen 
as a piece in a parish church that has been attributed to Wren. St Mary's has not entirely escaped 
alteration, as it now houses some later monuments and stained glass - but they are additions rather 
than subtractions. The height of the pews has been reduced, and additional matching pews have 
been inserted (see below); some of the plasterwork on the chancel ceiling might have been adapted, 
and part of the north aisle ceiling had to be reinstated in 1933-34, but the mouldings were made to 
match the old work (IPF 23 Jan. 1934). 

ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

In 1677 the church comprised a west tower, nave with two aisles, and a chancel (Fig. 2); the 
vestry in the angle between the chancel and the south aisle (not shown on the plan in this paper) 
was added in 1908 (LRO, B/C/12/1/258, 14 Feb. 1908). Built of Hollington stone, the church is 
very compact, appreciated more for the quality of its architecture than its scale. The tower is of 
three stages, the lowest of which has rusticated comers and a low plinth which is broken by the 
three-quarter-round Tuscan columns framing the west doorway. The columns carry the triangular 
pediment, which rises into the second stage, and both the pediment and the clock above it are framed 
by garlands. The lower moulded string continues as the eaves cornice round the aisles and the chan­
cel, while the upper returns around the eaves of the nave, thereby unifying the entire composition. 
There is a belfry window with a semi-circular head on each side of the tower, topped by another 
moulded cornice and an open balustrade with urns at each comer. Four windows on each side of 
the aisles and one on each side of the chancel all have semi-circular heads rising to foliate volutes, 
which support the cornice. The east window in the chancel is of three stepped lights with semi­
circular heads, the central light breaking into the tympanum. The four windows along each side of 
the clerestory, and one on each side of the tower, are all circular. 
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Fig. 2 Enlarged portion from Burghers' print of Ingestre Hall and Church (1686) 

Staffordshire County Studies 

Sample



WREN, PEARCE, AND ST MARY'S: INGESTRE PARISH CHURCH AND ITS ROOFS 103 

Although the tower is square externally, the lobby inside is round, with wooden benches on both 
sides. In the nave, four Tuscan shafts on tall pedestals are clustered to form the piers that support 
the four-bay arcade. Above the clerestory windows there is an ornate cornice with festoons nod­
ding towards the three main ceiling panels, which are rectangular at each end and oval at the cen­
tre. The semi-circular chancel arch frames a wooden screen with Corinthian columns and an elaborate 
entablature, topped by a royal coat of arms. 

The plan geometry and the overall proportions of Ingestre church are masterly (Figs 2-4). The 
building was set out on a five-foot interval grid. The outer faces of the north and south walls of 
the 20-feet-square tower were set on the same grid-lines as the centres of the nave arcades and those 
of the chancel north and south walls. The nave and its aisles together form a square, the length of 
the nave being twice its width, and each aisle being half the width of the nave. Measuring from the 
floor to the middle of the tiebeam, the nave is 30 feet tall - IV2 times its width, and in the arcades 
the tops of the cornices are at half the height of the nave. Each aisle is 20 feet tall - half its length 
and twice its width. If the thickness of the screen is excluded, and the dimensions are taken to the 
centre of each wall, the chancel was set out on a grid of 25 by 20 feet. 

WHO DESIGNED ST MARY'S CHURCH? 

So much has been written about Christopher Wren and his architecture that some might wonder 
how much more can usefully be said, but the purpose of this part of the paper is to reconsider the 
possibility of his authorship of the designs for St Mary's church at Ingestre in the light of what is 
known of its dates of commission, construction, and dedication. In order to add substance to what 
is already in print, it will not be sufficient merely to proffer another opinion about the marked sim­
ilarities in the style and proportions of Ingestre with some of Wren's City churches, but while vestry 
minutes and building accounts provide reliable information on construction programmes, even these 
leave room for uncertainty about the exact stages reached at any given time. Nevertheless, if ques­
tions of authorship and primacy are to be considered, the dates of construction at Ingestre must be 
set alongside those London churches for which Wren was directly responsible. 

In 1942 a set of drawings and photographs was published that illustrated the general character 
and undoubted quality of St Mary's church, along with some of its fixtures and fittings, and it was 
argued on stylistic grounds that the building was designed by Wren (Wren Soc 19, 1942, plates 
16-23). While few have directly opposed the attribution, levels of confidence vary, and despite its 
architectural significance no detailed study of the building has appeared in print. In the absence of 
a contract or building accounts, the attributions to Wren have focused primarily upon the stylistic 
evidence. Sir Nikolaus Pevsner was sufficiently persuaded of Wren's involvement: in the case 
of St Mary the exquisite quality speaks unequivocally' (1974, 155). Whether by Wren or not, Alec 
Clifton-Taylor described it as the most distinguished country church in England of the late Stuart 
period' (1974, 31). Similarly, Marcus Whiffen considered that Tngestre church is almost as ornate 
as the richest of Wren's London churches, and incomparably the most elaborate country church of 
its time' (1947-8, 15).1 Sir Howard Colvin listed Ingestre as one of Wren's works, but suggested 
that 'the church could have been designed by someone else closely connected with Wren's office' 
(1995, 1092). 

Several Staffordshire historians recognised Walter Chetwynd as the benefactor who funded the 
construction of St Mary's, but few considered who might have been the architect (Harwood 1820, 
57; Gamer 1844, 111; Masefield 1910, 153). In their passing reference to the church, Michael 
Greenslade and Denis Stuart followed others who had suggested that Wren was responsible (1984, 
47), while Henry Thorold observed more cautiously that 'definite proof is lacking' (1977, 111). Ann 
Bayliss concluded that Wren's role in St. Mary's might have been very small, if any (1999, 3). 

The demolition of the medieval church at Ingestre and the construction of its successor on a dif­
ferent site was promoted and funded by Walter Chetwynd, who endowed the new building with the 
tithes of Hopton. Bom in 1633, Chetwynd married Ann Bagot, the daughter of Sir Edward Bagot 
of Blithfield, and was MP for Stafford in 1674, 1679 and again in 1685 (SHC 4th series 11, 1982, 
38^12). He died in London in 1693 but was buried at Ingestre (SHC new series 12,1909,4). Family 
records were lost during a fire that destroyed most of Ingestre Hall in 1882, and were it not for that 
event the papers concerning the commissioning and construction of the church might have survived 

1 This is a somewhat back-handed compliment, as it might be argued that anything more elaborate was too ornate. 
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The aisle roofs 
The aisle roofs, with an internal span of only 2.75m, are divided into four bays. Both aisles have 

retained their primary tiebeams and ceiling joists, but many of the common rafters have been 
replaced. 

The carpentry of the aisle roofs was conditioned by two main constraints. Firstly, in the absence 
of a tribune, there was only limited space between the top of the nave arcade and the clerestory 
windows to accommodate the inner end of each roof. Secondly, as an essential element of the over­
all design, a very low pitch of only c. 3° was necessary for the aisle roofs to remain hidden behind 
the blocking-course. The carpenters had to fabricate a structure with the minimum possible gap 
between the ceiling and the roof covering. The main effect of past reconstructions of these roofs 
had been to increase the void between the ceiling and the outer membrane, but here the original 
arrangement is interpreted (Fig. 9). 

The assembly of the aisle roofs commenced with the emplacement of the wall plates (Fig. 10). 
Each with a scantling of up to c. 200 x 170mm, the wall plates were scarfed together by double-
pegged bare faced tenons; as around the nave, they were supported by timber pads, leaving a gap 
between their soffits and the top of the walls. After the wall-plates had been assembled, the tiebeams 
were lifted into place. Most of the tiebeams now have decayed outer ends, but in the north aisle, 
TBNA 2 still has a half-dovetail on its soffit where it sits across the wall-plate. The inner ends of 
the tiebeams were set into sockets in the wall near the foot of the clerestory. Because the ceiling 
joists are secured to the sides of the tiebeams by central shouldered tenons, they must have been 
assembled at the same time. The joists have laths nailed to their soffits to carry the plaster ceiling 
below. Shallow housings were cut into the top face of each tiebeam to secure the ends of bearers 
adjacent to the face of each wall; these bearers would support the inner ends of the common rafters. 
For the end bays, the housings were cut diagonally to carry substantial hip rafters. It was probably 

Fig. 11 South aisle roof details 
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at this stage in the assembly process that the masonry around the tiebeam sockets was made good 
with rubble and mortar. 

Over both aisles, virtually all of the common rafters had been replaced when the roof-pitch was 
altered, but several of them had been re-used ex situ, providing some of the information required to 
interpret the original form of the roof. Each intact rafter had a shouldered tenon at its inner end. 
The scantling of each of the former common rafters is reduced towards its outer end, and the angle 
at which each timber is tapered indicates the original pitch (f 7 and f 15 on Fig. 11). Each primary 
rafter has a peg-hole c.0.3m from its foot. In each bay, the outermost ceiling joist retained the evenly 
spaced series of holes that formerly received the pegs through the ends of the rafters. Thus, each 
outermost ceiling joist also served as a flying plate. The pitch of the roof was so shallow that some 
of the rafter soffits also sat across one or more of the inner joists (Fig. 9). By this device, part of 
the load imparted by each rafter was shared by the outer two or three joists, rather than the wall 
plate, though of course each joist also transferred a load upon the tiebeams. As the top face of each 
wall plate was below the level of the joist soffits, there would have been a gap between these and 
the projecting feet of each rafter. Another re-used timber (f 22 on Fig. 11) retained housings at the 
common rafter intervals; this is interpreted as a kerb, originally spiked onto the top of a wall plate. 
The kerb closed the gaps between the feet of several rafters, as reconstructed in Fig. 9. 

The hipped ends of the roofs differed somewhat from the eaves because the ceiling joists were 
required to bear on the east and west wall plates. Most of the primary scheme survives at the east 
end of the south aisle, and this is detailed on Fig. 11; J.27 is lodged and pegged onto Plate 16, and 
the primary kerb f 20 remains in situ, but all of the hip-rafters have been replaced. At the south­
east comer, a triangular oak block (f 19) spans the abutment of Plates 15 and 16, and is pegged to 
each of them. The foot of the primary hip-rafter - the predecessor of HR 4 - was originally lodged 
on this block. 

The ex-situ primary rafter f 7 has been shortened, so it has lost its shouldered tenon, but it retains 
other useful information about the primary roof (Fig. 11). Pairs of nail-holes indicate the widths of 
the primary wooden boards, providing the evidence for those shown on Fig. 9. Between each pair 
of nail-holes there is a narrow white line, suggesting that after the boards had been nailed into place, 
but before the outer lead membrane was added, a protective treatment, possibly lime-based, had 
been painted onto their outer surface. A high proportion of the rafters now have extension-pieces 
fastened onto their sides to project the roof out to the blocking-course. As on the nave roof, the 
blocking-course now stands on lead-work, which is wrapped up the sides of the wall plates. 

The chancel roof 
Internally, the chancel is approximately 6m long and 5m wide. The west end of the chancel roof 

stands against the taller nave, while the east end abuts the back of the east gable. Unlike those in 
the nave and aisles, the chancel ceiling is tunnel-vaulted, demanding a different type of structure, 
which is of two bays, and assembled with a pitch of c. 21W. Although this roof is steeper than that 
over the aisles, the tunnel-vault below again leaves little space for the supporting frame between the 
ceiling and the common rafters. The ingenious solution included three transverse trusses in which 
the main timbers doubled as steeply cambered tiebeams and as principals to carry the purlins; below, 
they are termed arch-ties (Figs 12 and 13). 

Along each side of the chancel, the moulded eaves cornice projects out to form a 1.2m-wide top 
to the wall. As in the nave, the wall plates are carried a few centimetres above the wall by timber 
pads. There are half-dovetails on the soffits of the arch-ties where they are lodged across the wall 
plates and each joint is stoutly pegged. Although the internal span of the roof is only five metres, 
because of the particular shape required for the arch-ties, each of them had to be formed out of two 
sections of oak. The soffit of each section was curved to the shape of the ceiling, while the upper 
face was cut to a straight line corresponding with the plane of the roof (Fig. 12). The two lengths 
of timber were joined together by a splayed scarf joint. Three different types of fasteners were used 
to fix the timbers together near the centre of the arch (Fig. 14). Firstly, a mortice was cut through 
both timbers near to the middle of each splay, and a long slip-tenon was driven through the joint, 
with both ends projecting to receive a face-peg, preventing withdrawal in either direction. Secondly, 
two metal straps pass down one face of the scarf joint, under the soffit, and up the other side, and 
each of them is secured by forelock bolts. (Near to the top of each strap, a metal bar passes through 
the entire assembly, projecting out at both sides, and a hole on each end of the bar coincides with 
the face of the strap; a metal strip which passes through each hole has twisted ends to prevent with-
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Following the Fire of London, the Commissioners for rebuilding the City churches only funded 
the construction of the building carcass so generally the fitting out was the responsibility of the 
parish, who selected contractors independently. Most of the towers were not constructed until some 
years after the completion of the main bodies of the churches and the two elements were generally 
designed by different architects. Such constraints did not apply at Ingestre, with the result that a 
unified design was achieved in a single building phase. Restless London parishioners demanded 
numerous alterations to the interiors of many of the churches designed by architects from Wren's 
practice, and much of what remained was heavily damaged by bombing during the Second World 
War. In mral Ingestre, St Mary's has been subject to various changes, but its original walls, roofs 
and ceilings remain largely intact, as do many of the original fittings, making it one of the finest 
churches of its kind left standing, and there are ample grounds for supposing that the design could 
have come from Wren's own hand. 
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